TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

School of Business and Governance Department of Business Administration

Oludolapo Adebukola Somoye

THE COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS BETWEEN PERSONAL INITIATIVE, COMMUNICATION AND COOPERATION COMPETENCIES IN ESTONIAN UNIVERSITY STUDENTS PARTICIPATING IN AN ENTREPRENEURSHIP COURSE

Master's thesis

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION, Entrepreneurship

Supervisor: Sirje Ustav, PhD

Tallinn 2020

I hereby declare that I have compiled the thesis independently and all works, important standpoints, and data by other authors have been properly referenced and the same paper has not been previously presented for grading. The document length is 12866 words from the introduction to the end of the conclusion.

Oludolapo Adebukola Somoye.....

(signature, date)

Student code: 184485TVTM

Student's e-mail address: somoyeoludolapo@gmail.com

Supervisor: Sirje Ustav (Ph.D.):

The paper conforms to requirements in force

.....

(signature, date)

Chairman of the Defence Committee: Permitted to the defense

(name, signature, date)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES7
ABSTRACT
INTRODUCTION
1. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND12
1.1. Entrepreneurial Competence12
1.2. Interpersonal Skills and Entrepreneurial Competence13
1.3. Personal Initiative14
1.3.1. Initiative for Creativity and Innovation15
1.3.1.1. Creativity Versus Innovation16
1.3.2. Initiative for Opportunity Recognition16
1.3.3. Initiative for Maximization Of Resources17
1.4. Cooperation Skills17
1.4.1. Cooperation In Leadership17
1.5. Communication Competence
1.5.1. Verbal and Non-Verbal Communication19
1.5.2. Communication and Cooperation Competencies
1.6. Entrepreneurial Competency Models
1.6.1. The 13 Entrepreneurial Competencies Model
1.6.2. The Entrecomp Model22

1.7. Research Framework: Timmons' Model of Entrepreneurial Competence24
1.8. The Role of Education In Entrepreneurship
2. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY
2.1. Research Design
2.2. Sampling, Procedure, and Sample Size
2.3. Data Collection Instrument Reliability and Validation
2.4. Method of Data Analysis
2.5. Limitation of Methodology
3. DATA PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS
3.1. Frequency Distribution of Data33
3.2. Inferential Analysis
3.2.1. Analysis of Spearson's Coefficient of Correlation for PI, COM, COP Pre-Course
3.2.2. Analysis of Spearson's Coefficient of Correlation for PI, COM, COP Post-Course
3.2.3. Analysis for the Differences Between PI, COM and COP Pre-course and Post-course
Using the Wilcoxon Signed-rank Test
4. SUMMARY, CONCLUSION, AND RECOMMENDATION43
4.1. Summary of Findings43
4.2. Conclusions

LIST OF REFERENCES	46
APPENDICES	57
Appendix 1	57
Appendix 2	58
Appendix 3	59
Appendix 4	60
Appendix 5	61
Appendix 6	62

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Entrepreneurial Competencies Identified From Delphi Study	22
Table 2.1. Characteristics of the sample	29
Table 3.1 Mean and Standard deviation of demographics of the data sample	33
Table 3.2. Spearman Rho Correlations on PI, COM, COP precourse	35
Table 3.3. Spearman Rho Correlations on PI, COM, and COP postcourse	37
Table 3.4. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test (Mean)	
Table 3.5. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test (Ranks)	40
Table 3.6. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test (Z-Statistics)	41

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1.	Entrecomp Competence Framework, 2016	24
Figure 1.2.	Timmons' Model of Entrepreneurial Competence	25

ABSTRACT

Entrepreneurial competencies are the characteristics and skills required to be successful in business management. Particularly important competencies are interpersonal skills like personal initiative, communication, and cooperation skills. While several studies have been done on other competencies, little has been done on these three competencies. Also, there has not been any research that has observed the relationships between the three constructs and the effect of participating in an entrepreneurial course on them. The objective of this master's thesis is to do a comparative analysis between the personal initiative, communication, and communication competencies of Estonian students participating in an entrepreneurial course. The author used Spearman Rho Correlations and Wilcoxon Signed-Rank Test to analyze data gathered.

Results from the study revealed a significant relationship between personal initiative, communication, and cooperation competencies. The study also showed a significant difference between the competencies after participation in an entrepreneurship course. The conclusion was that the three competencies are positively correlated. Also, participation in entrepreneurship courses positively influences these competencies in students.

Keywords: Personal Initiative, Cooperation Competence, Communication Competence, Interpersonal Skills, Entrepreneurship Course, University Students.

INTRODUCTION

The degree to which an entrepreneur is able to gain mastery over some job-enhancement skills can be termed competence. According to Bird (1995), the competencies of an entrepreneur are those underlying factors that result in venture startups, survival, or growth. An entrepreneur is said to show personal initiative when he/she is able to recognize opportunity when he sees it, use resources within his means to maximize the opportunity. In order to positively exhibit this competence and achieve set goals, it is inevitable that the entrepreneur makes associations, and learns to communicate and cooperate with others.

Across all OECD countries, more than half of the youth surveyed in the period 2012 to 2016 lack entrepreneurship knowledge and skills (OECD/European Union 2017a). Particularly lacking skills are communication, cooperation skills, and personal skills, among others. This is to be expected since these skillsets have remained largely unexamined in the entrepreneurship domain (Meager, Martin & Carta, 2011) and are not treated as germane compared to other skills (Mwasalwiba, 2010). In recent studies, Bikse, Riemere, & Rivza (2014) encourage that education that encourages entrepreneurial competence must be made available to all students, and integrated into all subjects, at all levels of education according to the principle of consecutiveness.

Morris et. al, (2013) and Timmons in their models highlighted initiative, "building and using networks" and communication as some of the entrepreneurial competencies that are critical to the success of entrepreneurs. In this study, we would be examining a communication, cooperation competencies, and personal initiative in students. These are soft skills, which are crucial to the success of entrepreneurs and would-be entrepreneurs, yet are not usually the focus of teaching, learning, and research, more especially as a group of interpresent competencies (Mwasalwiba, 2010).

The problem statement for the research: For most of the previous work done on entrepreneurial competence, improvement of students' competencies are centered around the seemingly critically important skills Raduan, Naresh & Lim, 2006), and also around workers, who are able to display these skills at a job role. However, contrary to this popular mentality, special attention should be dedicated to the development of soft or transversal skills, such as communication, or cooperation competencies) of learners (Ruskovaara, 2014). Presently, little is known about the personal initiative of students in relation to their cooperation and communication competencies.

Research Objective: This study aims to carry out a comparative analysis between personal initiative, cooperation, and communication competencies of Estonian students. Apart from comparing the components, one with the other, the alpha values and coefficient of correlation of the three constructs are used to determine whether participation in an entrepreneurship course has any significant effect on students' personal initiative, communication or cooperation competencies.

This research answers the question of whether there is any significant difference between the three constructs being examined before the commencement of the entrepreneurial course. Hence, three hypotheses have been developed for the research as follows:

H₁: There is no significant relationship between personal initiative and communication competence pre-course

 H_2 : There is no significant relationship between personal initiative and cooperation competence pre-course

H₃: There is no significant relationship between communication and cooperation competence pre-course.

Also, this research answers the question of whether there is any significant difference between personal initiative, communication, and cooperation competencies. Hence, the following hypotheses:

H₄: There is no significant relationship between personal initiative and communication competence post-course

 H_5 : There is no significant relationship between personal initiative and cooperation competence post-course

H₆: There is no significant relationship between communication and cooperation competence post-course.

Finally, this research provides answers to the research question on whether participation in the entrepreneurial course has any significant effect on the three constructs being examined. Hypotheses 7, 8, and 9 will, therefore, be tested.

H₇: There is no significant difference between personal initiative pre-course and post-course

H₈: There is no significant difference between communication competence pre-course and post-course

H₉: There is no significant difference between cooperation competence pre-course and postcourse. The related literature used for this research were extracted from Taltech library, ResearchGate databases, Google Scholar, GEM publications.

This is the sequence that the thesis follows: The first chapter discusses definitions of entrepreneurial competence, narrowing it down to related literature on existing knowledge on the three constructs being discussed by selected authors, models on entrepreneurship competence, and knowledge on entrepreneurial education. The second chapter discusses the research methodology which includes the research designs mapping procedure and size, data collection instrument, reliability validation, method of data analysis, and limitations of the study. The third chapter includes the data analysis and comparison of the three constructs. The fourth chapter discusses the summary of findings, conclusions, and recommendations.

1. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

1.1. Entrepreneurial Competence

Entrepreneurial competencies can be rightfully defined as a particular group of competencies that is significant to the practice of successful entrepreneurship (Mitchelmore & Rowley, 2010). The 21st century came with a surge in the number of start-ups all over the world. However, many entrepreneurs lack the competencies which are essential for the sustenance of their start-ups; hence, the hike in the number of failing start-ups (Aldrich, 1999).

It has been established that in order to manage work and career successfully (as well as reduce drastically start-up failures), it is essential to possess the proper resources and competencies (Ulrich et al., 2009). Therefore, interest in more knowledge has been shown in the study of entrepreneurial competencies. EU policy-makers and developers of entrepreneurship education have recommended the support of the personal development of learners, such as creativity, problem-solving and planning skills, and the development of other competencies supporting entrepreneurship (European Commission, 2006; Karimi et al., 2014).

Entrepreneurial competence has been grouped into different categories by re-known authorscognitive competence, behavioral or social competence, and functional or know-how competence. While cognitive competencies are essentially related to 'knowing that' and 'knowing why' knowledge (Rauch & Frese, 2000), behavioral competence, on the other hand, are those skills that enable a person to know how to behave in certain entrepreneurial situations (Jong and Wenneker, 2008). Cognitive competencies are conceptual or theoretical knowledge, and the ability to show understanding of a subject (Le Deist & Winterton, 2005). It can be inferred then that cognitive competencies are mostly learned in both formal and informal settings. Gagne in his studies about learning domains recognizes so-called verbal information and intellectual skills which are both tightly related to cognitive competencies (Le Deist & Winterton, 2005). Volery, Mueller & Von Siemens (2015) also submitted that competencies can be changed, learned and attained through experience, learning, and coaching.

Studies on entrepreneurial competencies have attempted to organize entrepreneurial competencies into various sub-constructs. For example, Man et al (2002) identified six competency areas:

opportunity, organizing, strategic, relationship, commitment, and conceptual competencies. On the other hand, Kyndt & Baert (2015) assessed behavioral indicators in actual and aspiring entrepreneurs as proximal outcomes of entrepreneurial competencies and identified twelve competencies. Also, Lee et al. (2016) identified five dimensions of entrepreneurial competencies, which are as follows: opportunity competencies, administrative competencies, relationship competencies, personal competencies, commitment competencies.

1.2. Interpersonal Skills and Entrepreneurial Competence

Interpersonal skills comprise of a combination of some skillset which is indispensable to any successful leader (Pina Tarricone & Joe, 2002). Entrepreneurial competencies are also not entirely separate from the entrepreneur's characteristics, traits, and motivations (Lee et al, 2016). Luca (2002) highlighted the skillset needed by entrepreneurs and leaders as the commitment to team success and shared goals, interdependence, interpersonal skills, open communication, positive feedback, appropriate team composition, role definitions, and finally, commitment to team processes.

Although researchers have devoted considerable time and effort to identify the characteristics, traits, values, affective states, and cognitive styles associated with entrepreneurial success, the unique and peculiar competencies that support venture creation and are vital in navigating the entrepreneurial contexts remain elusive (Morris et al., 2013).

In constructing the conceptual framework of entrepreneurial competencies for University students, this study examines the link between three constructs and entrepreneurial competencies, referring to the research by Baron & Ensley (2006), Bartlett & Ghoshal (1997), Man et al., (2002), Yeh & Chang (2018).

We would examine from past literature, three constructs that are critical to the theoretical framework used in this study. Collectively referred to as interpersonal skills, they are personal initiative, communication skills, and cooperation skills.

1.3. Personal Initiative

Kuratko & Hodetts (2004) defined entrepreneurship as "the application of energy for passion creation and implementation of new ideas and creative solutions", laying emphasis on the resourcefulness of an entrepreneur to take the lead to invent and execute ideas, which before then, were non-existent. It has been established that entrepreneurs with high personal initiative will further enhance their management, improve business operation skills, and embark on a continuous learning and development attitude (Raduan et. al, 2006).

An entrepreneur's personal initiative determines the pace and course for the business. According to Gartner (1988), an enterprise's success is not related to the person who owns or starts the business, but rather to the action and initiative that is taken by an entrepreneur. Personal initiative deals majorly with the self-starting nature of entrepreneurs, their proactive attitude, ability to seek and grasp the opportunity, and find solutions to overcome barriers that are, or might be impediments to their success (Frese, Kring, Soose, & Zempel, 1996; Frese, Fay, Hilburger, Leng, & Tag, 1997).

Timmons' framework also placed special importance on innovation and unique ideas and refers to them as the core of the model. This is called personal initiative. The concept of personal initiative (PI) was first introduced by Frese et al. (1996) while studying the performance of a group of East German employees after the unification of Germany. Frese explained personal initiative as a work behavior of an individual (Frese et al., 1996; Frese et al., 1997). Moises (2012) likewise concluded that opportunities well utilized are more crucial than the talent of the team because the right opportunity exploited ensures the long-term success of the business. According to the model, ideas and innovations can be extracted from personal thoughts and market analysis (Timmons, 1989). This reinforces the significant role which personal initiative plays in the making of a successful entrepreneur.

Results from the analyses of U.S newspaper reports from 1999 to 2001 carried out by Cardon et al. (2011) revealed that a majority of entrepreneurial failures were traced back to mistakes caused by entrepreneurs. These mistakes are a result of the deficiency of skills in planning, finance, strategic thinking, opportunity recognition, and leadership skills are the main reasons for entrepreneurial failure. The converse is also true as a large number of entrepreneurs affirmed personal initiative as one of the major keys to success (Raduan, Naresh, and Lim, 2006).

Planning, strategic thinking, and opportunity recognition have been described as a personal initiative. According to the Facets Model of Personal Initiative (PI), personal initiative is in three parts. Namely, self-starting, pro-active, and overcoming barriers (Frese & Fay, 2001; Glaub et al., 2014; Solomon et al., 2013). Self-starting helps entrepreneurs to take advantage of small resources and opportunities available to them and be innovative (Fiet, 2002). Timmons' model advocates this self-starting stage strongly, emphasizing that entrepreneurship is nothing, but opportunity-driven. Pro-active is all about anticipating future problems and opportunities and converting them into short or long -term goals. The last stage, i.e. overcoming barriers is the entrepreneur's initiative to continue working on goals despite frustrations or discouragements (Baker & Nelson, 2005).

It is safe therefore to say, based on these researchers' findings, that high personal initiative entrepreneurs are typical "go-getters" and persist in all their work until results are achieved (Raduan et. al, 2006). Such an individual firstly considers the challenges ahead and develops strategies to combat them, identifies emerging opportunities, and takes actions as issues arise. It is right, therefore to infer that entrepreneurship is about identifying and exploiting opportunities (Shane & Venkataraman, 2000), creativity (Daylan et. al., 2013), and maximization of resources. These are, summarily, the roles that personal initiative plays in an entrepreneur's career journey.

1.3.1. Initiative for Creativity and Innovation

Creativity is the ability to see opportunities from a different perspective. Often, creativity has to do with seeing what is not there, seeing problems as opportunities, and looking at problems from a strategic, holistic, and detached perspective. It involves a lot of thinking, pattern making, and dot-connecting. Dayan et al. (2013) defined entrepreneurial creativity as the capabilities of entrepreneurs to incubate fresh combinations of hitherto independent elements so that improved and/or new products, services, processes, or practices are formed. The newly created variant to what is normally obtainable in the market gives added value and advantage to make some profit in spite of the fierce competition in the marketplace.

Unlike the past when creativity and entrepreneurship were considered separate concepts, they have become increasingly linked in more recent studies (Lee, Florida & Acs, 2004). Creativity and

innovation are a critical and central part of an enterprise. Both factors pave a way for clear-sighted entrepreneurship (Okpara, 2007). Creativity cannot be separated from education as it is often achieved by people with high levels of education and positive attitudes towards Science. A productive change in a system is brought about by creative people (McMullan & Kenworthy, 2015).

1.3.1.1. Creativity Versus Innovation

Creativity and innovation, though often interchangeably used, are slightly different concepts, as one gives birth to the other. Creativity constitutes the basic source of innovation and can lead to the creation of new firms and the improvement of existing products so that companies become more efficient and competitive (Ko & Butler, 2007). Successful incorporation of creativity and technology in entrepreneurial activity can lead to the commercialization of the idea, the product, or the service, thereby strengthening entrepreneurship (Fillies & Rentschler, 2010). Moreover, creative thinking is a particularly significant tool that allows the leader of a firm to form a business strategy and motivate the employees (Darling, Gabrielson & Seristo, 2007). Creativity usually starts with discovery, invention, and ends in creation (Burus, 2013).

1.3.2. Initiative for Opportunity Recognition

Opportunities concern the discovery of new and/or improved means of supply (e.g., new products, services, or ways of doing business) to better serve the needs of consumers in one or more markets (Wood & McKinley, 2010). Recognition of opportunity and creativity often go hand in hand.

Dimov (2011) noted that experienced entrepreneurs are more likely to demonstrate higher tolerance for decision uncertainty, which is a major determining factor of the ability to recognize opportunities and possibly take action.

1.3.3. Initiative for Maximization Of Resources

(Poerwowidagdo, 2010) reported that one of the misconceptions among inexperienced entrepreneurs based on Timmon's model is that one must first have all the resources in place, especially money, in order to succeed in a business venture. This is however far from reality and making decisions based on the availability of funds alone is a big mistake that paralyzes entrepreneurial moves. Some other line of thought of investors and successful entrepreneurs is that one of the worst things that can happen to an entrepreneur is to have too much money too early in the business. Timmons' model discounts the popular notion that extensive resources reduce the risk of starting a venture and encourages starting with the barest minimum requirements as a way to attain success in a highly competitive market.

1.4. Cooperation Skills

Cooperation skills are the critical ingredients that hold teams together. In literature, both terms are often used interchangeably (Scarnati, 2001). Teams are very important for a successful business. Teams and teamwork help to promote deep learning that occurs through interaction, problem-solving, dialogue, cooperation, and collaboration (Johnson & Johnson, 1995). Scarnati (2001) defined teamwork as a cooperative process that allows ordinary people to achieve extraordinary results.

It takes a highly effective lead entrepreneur to be able to put the best talents together after identifying the opportunity and gathering the required resources. The size and nature of opportunity determine the size and nature of the team that should be put together. A good team can lead to great success and a badly formed team can waste a great idea which is a disaster to any form of business. Among all resources, only a good team can unlock a higher potential with any opportunity. Timmons' model also submits that a good team can manage the pressure related to growth.

1.4.1. Cooperation In Leadership

Leadership, described as "a process of social influence in which a person can enlist the aid and support of others in the accomplishment of a common task" (Kushnir, Mirmulstein & Ramalho, 2010), is a trait which is common to both entrepreneurs and managers.

New ventures cannot be successfully created without having effective leadership behavior (Bryant, 2004). Hence, leadership is seen as an essential contributor to the entrepreneurial success of entrepreneurs (Arham et al., 2013).

Leadership and entrepreneurship have been conceived as a distinctive set of underpinning traits, behaviors, and competencies (Engelen et al, 2015). The style of leadership has a significant effect on the success of a small business as suggested by Valdiserri & Wilson (2010). It is also claimed that leadership affects the method of achieving entrepreneurship (Harrison et al, 2016; Leitch& Harrison, 2018; Leitch & Volery, 2017). Hence, the type of leadership an entrepreneur exhibits majorly determines whether the effect is positive or negative (Dunne et al, 2016).

The two main types of leadership at opposite extremes are autonomous leadership and democratic or participatory leadership. Stephan and Pathak (2016) describe autonomous or directive leadership as leaders who play an active role in problem-solving and decision making and expect their followers to be guided by their decisions. Whereas, participatory leadership is a team leadership style which involves sharing the decision process with others. Unlike autonomous leadership, it requires the development of strong cooperation skills. These include the ability to keep people working amicably, the ability to settle disputes and maintain a healthy environment at the workplace, the ability to motivate, encourage, reward and punish, among other skills. In management and entrepreneurial research, the latter appears to be commonly accepted as a viable way to encourage entrepreneurs and employees in organizations to work together more productively (De Jong &Van Witteloostuijn, 2004).

1.5. Communication Competence

Communication is so important to living that Paul Watzlawick gave a popular statement in 1967, "No matter how hard one tries, one cannot not communicate". While ideas and plans are good, they would be of very little use without a business plan. The business plan provides the language and code for communication between the three driving forces of Timmons' model, linking resources, opportunities, and team to the entrepreneur. In order to efficiently write and execute a good business

plan, strong communication skills are vital. Consequently, it is imperative that an entrepreneur learn various methods and skills of effective communication which goes beyond language and its use.

Joshi & Paresh (2014) identified three main areas in which communication determines entrepreneurial success. To be able to convince the investors that they are making the right investment, an entrepreneur needs to communicate the company's vision to his team and in some cases, to his customers. Secondly, he would need to be able to organize and convey his vision to his team (Drucker, 1995). Communication also plays a pivotal role in entrepreneurship and venture seeking. Finally, for entrepreneurial success, an entrepreneur needs to learn to communicate with the market. He must employ innovative strategies to ensure a consistent influx of new clients/buyers (Joshi, Paresh, 2014).

In order to exploit the benefits of strong communication skills, it is good to know the forms they exist in, the form that is most beneficial for an entrepreneur, as well as how the skills can be acquired or improved.

Communication goes beyond the limited verbal use of language and extends to non-verbal domains. Consequently, communication involves language, speech, gestures, codes, writing, and so on. The ability of an entrepreneur to master communication as a whole and use their mastery to the advantage of their business. An entrepreneur who has good communication skills can correct potential clients' misconceived vision of his company. Negotiation, agreement, and validation of proposals and ideas are also made possible.

1.5.1. Verbal and Non-Verbal Communication

Communication can be verbal and non-verbal. Non-verbal communication is often associated with emotions (Schutz & Pekrun, 2007). It is communication that delivers the message without words, such as gestures, facial expressions, eye contact, by objects such as clothing, haircuts, symbols, and speech (Tracy, Randles, & Steckler, 2015). Non-verbal communication also involves posture, voice intonation, laughter, the distance between the communicating parties, touch, and physiological responses such as sweating palms, forehead, paleness, acute facial and neck redness, etc (Peleckis et al, 2016).

Verbal communication, on the other hand, involves the use of words for expression. Research shows that only a small percentage of our overall message comes from the words we use when we communicate. According to Mehrabian, (2007), 55% of messages conveyed comes from body language (especially from movements of the small muscles around the eye), 38% comes from voice tone, and only 7% is conveyed by the words we use.

Body language signals are important in business negotiations because they reveal the respondent's physical and emotional state as well as its change; they reinforce, weaken, or complement the spoken words; they enable communication with people (who for reasons of disability, lack of education or knowledge of a language, cannot read or speak a particular language): and finally, they help to determine more accurately, whether what was said is true or not (Peleckis et al, 2016).

Therefore, it is often not what we say, but how we say it that matters most, especially when we communicate feelings and attitudes. The voice tone or eye movements alone can convey anger, frustration, disappointment, sarcasm, confidence, affection, or indifference (Mehrabian, 2007).

1.5.2. Communication and Cooperation Competencies

These two constructs are often related. Park (1985) suggests that communicators that are those people who understand that their ability to pursue their own goals is a function of other people's ability to pursue their own goals. 'Communication is what transforms an idea into a vision, defines how it's different, explains why it will work, and engages people in helping to make it a reality' (Heller, 2011).

According to Keyton (2011), a huge responsibility lies on the sender of information to make communication effective. However, for effective communication, listening skills should also be developed. Kneen (2011) summarized ten rules which a good communicator must master. Most of these rules are cooperation-centered. "Stop talking, put the speaker at ease, remove distractions, ask questions, and empathize" are a few of the rules.

1.6. Entrepreneurial Competency Models.

Despite increased interests in entrepreneurial capacity building, there is still no consensus on what the distinctive elements of entrepreneurship as competence are. Previous researches have made efforts to identify, define, and categorize these competencies. These have resulted in proposals of multidimensional models in the research literature, drawing upon strategic management, organizational behavior theories, and various entrepreneurship models. Having a multidimensional overview has its advantages as individual, organizational, and environmental dimensions altogether make a more precise prediction of venture development and growth, in comparison to just one dimension in isolation (Baum, Locke & Smith, 2001).

Three entrepreneurial competence models would be discussed. The thirteen Entrepreneurial Competencies Models by Morris and colleagues (2013), Timmons' Model of Entrepreeurial Competence (1994), and Europe integrated theoretical framework (EntreComp; Bacigalupo et al., 2016). However, for the purpose of this research, Timmons' Model will be used.

1.6.1. The 13 Entrepreneurial Competencies Model

Morris et al. (2013) distinguished a core set of 13 entrepreneurial competencies, by employing a Delphi methodology and pre- and post-measures in a sample of students, building on structuration theory, and approaching competencies as the results of interactions between the individual and environment. The Structuration theory used provides a framework to understand the development of competencies by capturing the recursive process and explaining how scripts develop into competencies and the factors that can aid or hinder this development. In accordance with Giddens (1984), Scripts are further broken down into three broad categories: signification, legitimation, and domination. Signification scripts influence how individuals interpret and evaluate this change, and domination scripts influence how individuals respond to this change.

The 13 Entrepreneurial Competencies Model aimed at creating general awareness of what entrepreneurship entails, as well as guiding the development of entrepreneurship educational curricula. Competencies necessary for entrepreneurial action are also investigated.

Furthermore, results from their study highlighted the complexity of entrepreneurial action and showed that particular competencies remained stable while others can be enhanced based on exposure to an entrepreneurship program and intense experiential learning. Creating successful entrepreneurs requires a shift from studying intentions and business formation alone to actually studying successful business development and growth as desired outcomes of an educational effort (Morris et al., 2013).

Table 1.1. Entrepreneurial Competencies Identified From Delphi Study

1. Opportunity Recognition: the capacity to perceive changed conditions or overlooked possibilities in the environment that represent potential sources of profit or return to a venture

2. Opportunity Assessment: ability to evaluate the content structure of opportunities to accurately determine their relative attractiveness

3. Risk Management/Mitigation: the taking of actions that reduce the probability of a risk occurring or reduce the potential impact if the risk were to occur

4. Conveying a Compelling Vision: the ability to conceive an image of a future organizational state and to articulate that image in a manner that empowers followers to enact it

5. Tenacity/Perseverance: ability to sustain goal-directed action and energy when confronting difficulties and obstacles that impede goal achievement

6. Creative Problem Solving/Imaginativeness: the ability to relate previously unrelated objects or variables to produce novel and appropriate or useful outcomes

7. Resource Leveraging: skills at accessing resources one does not necessarily own or control to accomplish personal ends

8. Guerrilla Skills: the capacity to take advantage of one's surroundings, employ unconventional, low-cost tactics not recognized by others, and do more with less

9. Value Creation: capabilities of developing new products, services, and/or business models that generate revenues exceeding their costs and produce sufficient user benefits to bring about a fair return

Entrepreneurial Competencies Identified From Delphi Study continued

10. Maintain Focus yet Adapt: the ability to balance and emphasis on goal achievement and the strategic direction of the organization while addressing the need to identify and pursue actions to improve the fit between an organization and developments in the external environment

11. Resilience: the ability to cope with stresses and disturbances such that one remains well, recovers, or even thrives in the face of adversity

12. Self-efficacy: ability to maintain a sense of self-confidence regarding one's ability to accomplish a particular task or attain a level of performance

13. Building and Using Networks: social interaction skills that enable an individual to establish, develop. and maintain sets of relationships with others who assist them in advancing their work or career.

Source: (Morris et al., 2013, page 358)

1.6.2. The Entrecomp Framework

The EntreComp framework was developed in 2016 through a mixed-methods approach. (Bacigalupo et al., 2016) gave a definition of entrepreneurship as a competence consisting of three interrelated and interconnected competence areas: 'Ideas and opportunities', 'Resources' and 'Into action'. The researchers further divided these areas into five competencies each (as seen in figure 1.1 below), for a total of 15 competencies along with an 8-level progression model with a list of 442 learning outcomes. These resources can be personal (self-awareness and self-efficacy, motivation and perseverance), material (production means and financial resources) or non-material (specific knowledge, skills, and attitudes).

The first entrepreneurial competence area in the EntreComp model is "Ideas & Opportunity Recognition". This area consists of skills that help entrepreneurs to identify opportunities, seize and create them, and also pursue them vigorously. These skills also help them to be creative, visionary, value ideas, and good in ethical and sustainability thinking (Bagigalupo et al., 2016).

The second area of entrepreneurial competencies in the EntreComp model is "Resources". It is basically the entrepreneurial 'know-how' or skills. Resources are helpful in problem-solving, decision making, motivation, financial management, and interpersonal relationships.

"Actions" is the third area of entrepreneurial competencies in the EntreComp model. It deals with the ability to motivate others, take initiatives, plan, manage, make decisions, deal with uncertainty, teamup, collaborate, and learn through experience.



Figure 1.1. EntreComp Competence Framework, 2016

Source: Publications Office of the European Union.

1.7. Research Framework: Timmons' Model of Entrepreneurial Competence

The Timmons' model of the entrepreneurial process highlights three critical factors: opportunity, team, resources. According to Timmons, the ability of an entrepreneur to balance these three factors determines the entrepreneur's success rate. The model is based on the entrepreneur, who kick-starts the process of building or reviving a venture by looking for opportunities. Timmons' model emphasizes that opportunity is the propelling force of the process and not money, strategy, networks, or the business plan. In most cases, genuine opportunities are much bigger than the team or

the resources at their disposal initially. The entrepreneur's duty is to balance out all factors involved in the process to ensure equilibrium and flow (Moises, 2012).

Shane (2003) argued that Timmons' framework misses the social and environmental perspectives on entrepreneurship. However, the conceptual framework of the study for the entrepreneurial competencies focuses on the social and environmental factors which have been concluded in the relationship competencies, strategic competencies, and commitment competencies.



Figure 1.2. Timmons' Model of Entrepreneurial competence

1.8. The Role of Education In Entrepreneurship

In the past, there was great emphasis on competence being best tested or observed at a workplace, with managers and entrepreneurs as the subjects of study. However, more recently, entrepreneurial competencies have been identified as a higher (vs. standard) level ability that can be promoted through education and encompass the necessary skills, knowledge, and abilities to perform an innovative role

successfully (Kyndt & Baert, 2015; Man et al., 2002; Volery et al., 2015), therefore should be examined in students.

Competence generally is often manifested in good or appropriate behavior. Various methods have been adopted in the past as being effective in training for entrepreneurial competence. This training could take place at various points in life and may take different forms. For instance, all primary school pupils in Scotland receive "enterprise education," which is basically about being enterprising and entrepreneurial in a more general sense. In some universities, students choose programs that delve a bit into entrepreneurship. The aim of such a program of study is not to provide training in starting a business. Rather, the creation of new ventures is the context of academic education and not the goal. Some university students have a blend of "about" and "how-to" in entrepreneurship classes. Such students are usually enrolled in the business program. Lastly, on the other hand, an employer or a government agency may offer training to employees about to lose their jobs on how to start a business.

Entrepreneurial education became available in Estonia after independence was restored. This perhaps is one of the explanations for the decrease in the number of people who have had formal entrepreneurial education with an increase in age (GEM, 2012). Entrepreneurial learning refers to all forms of formal and informal training (Swaroop and Prasad, 2013), which have a positive association with entrepreneurship outcomes (Martin, McNally, & Kay, 2013). Hence, there is a 14% share of entrepreneurs among working-age people who have not received entrepreneurial education. This figure doubles (34.7%) among those who have taken entrepreneurship courses at a point in life (GEM, 2012). It can be inferred therefore, that receiving entrepreneurial education facilitates becoming an entrepreneur and keeping the company in business.

Conversely, entrepreneurial education could be done with or without the objective of making some profit. Some studies have found out that the effects of entrepreneurship education can be negative (Von Graevenitz, Harhoff, & Weber, 2010). Rideout and Gray (2013) reviewed a decade's worth of empirical studies on entrepreneurial education and noted that a majority of the programs were lacking some of the necessary methodologies needed to yield desired results.

GEM (2012) reports that higher-level education has had a bigger contribution (61.6%) of the formal entrepreneurship-related education in Estonia, than the level of vocational and secondary education (38.4%) has had.

Von Graevenitz, Harhoff, and Weber (2010) had two divergent perspectives on the effect of entrepreneurship education on students. First is that entrepreneurship education produces a polarizing effect on trainees' opinions, intentions, and propensity towards entrepreneurship. Invariance to this is the perspective that entrepreneurial training also has a "sorting effect", helping students to choose whether entrepreneurship is for them or not.

Lans et al. (2008) divided the roles of educational effort on entrepreneurship education into threechanges in the state of mind, enhancing entrepreneurial behavior and mastering specific business situations. The researchers agreed that education should focus on the creation of appropriate values, beliefs, and attitudes associated with successful entrepreneurship and intrapreneurship as well. They also elaborated that education should encourage the transfer of specific abilities related to entrepreneurial behavior and special attention should be dedicated to the development of soft or transversal skills of learners (Ruskovaara, 2014). Finally, education should focus on handling functional expertise – such as, how to start a business, how to explore the various options, and take advantage of opportunities around.

2. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This chapter focuses on the methodology used to conduct the comparative analysis between personal initiative, communication, and cooperation competencies in Estonian university students. The chapter is basically divided into various subchapters such as the research design, sampling, sample size, data collection instrument and validation, method of data analysis, and the limitation of the methodology adopted.

2.1. Research Design

In order to achieve its stated objectives, this study made use of a number of methods. The research design adopts a quantitative and descriptive approach. This can be applied to research work that can be expressed in terms of quantity (Kothari, 2004).

The research is designed to subject respondents to an entrepreneurship course during the course of a semester. This is to create an understanding of the essence of entrepreneurship and its processes, the role of entrepreneurs and the competencies of entrepreneurs. The course gives students the opportunity to choose a business idea, practically plan the business process, design business model and compile their business plans through teamwork and interdisciplinary study.

The study process follows the logic of the entrepreneurship process. It entails identification of a problem or need, business idea generation, business opportunity recognition, its development, and implementation. This process is seen on three levels: individual, team, and society. The design is built to enhance the personal initiative of the individual, support teamwork, and communicate effectively in a society.

Furthermore, the research is designed to show-case examples from the practical world to the respondents, focusing on a variety of sectors (such as IT, mechanics, engineering, etc). The expertise of entrepreneurs and specialists from different disciplines are also employed to add to the quality of teaching.

Students' learning process in seminars is organized on the basis of action research, which includes active learning, learning by doing, teamwork, mentoring, pitching business ideas. Attention has been paid particularly to the development of student's personal initiative, communication competency, cooperation competency among others.

2.2. Sampling, Procedure and Sample Size

A total number of 824 students participated in this study. About half of the group were females (50.61%) and a majority of respondents were older than 22 years (63.83%). The quantitative online survey involves master and bachelor students (Table 1) studying at the entrepreneurship courses during autumn 2018 in Estonian universities (N=824). The male and female relationship is rather equal. The sample is international, there are larger groups of Estonians (67%), Russians, Finns, and others.

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Total		824	100.0	100.0	
Gender	Female	407	49.4	49.4	49.4
	Male	417	50.6	50.6	100.00
Nationality	Estonian	556	67.5	67.5	67.5
	Russian	104	12.6	12.6	80.1
	Other	164	19.9	19.9	100.00

Table 2.1. Characteristics of the sample.

Source: Author's Compilation

A total number of 526 respondents were above 22 years old, making up 63.83% of the sample size, while the remaining 36.17 accounted for those aged 22 or below. In terms of the program of study, most of the respondents took specialties in the business field (61.04%) while others (38.96%) took non-business related courses.

2.3. Data Collection, Instrument Reliability, and Validation

Data collection is done through the use of questionnaires. Data is collected before the commencement of classes and after the course was completed. The survey instrument was compiled based on three sub-competencies.

Besides collecting demographic data, students also rate 32 statements based on the three factors being examined. 13 statements are formulated for personal initiative, 12 are formulated for communication competence while 7 are for cooperation competence. These factors are measured on a 5-point Likert scale with 1 representing totally disagree; 2 -rather disagree; 3-agree and disagree; 4-rather agree; 5-totally agree. The respondents are assured that their responses would be kept private and confidential, used only for academic purposes. The questions posed to the students in relation to the factors being studied with scales are found in *Appendix 1,2 and 3*. The measure is a set of self-assertions that the respondent must evaluate based on their past experience and behavior. Thus, the respondent gives an assessment of their past behavior in a five-point system. Answers to the questions do not require previous experience in a particular area but require some self-analysis readiness.

The awareness of socio-emotional processes of communication competence is assessed through two sub-scales. Seen in *Appendix 2*, statements 1, 2, 3, 4 assess social awareness of their claims the aggregate score shows how well the respondent is feeling the emotions and behavior of their communication partners. Statements 5, 6, and 7 describe the social awareness that expresses understanding their peers and accepting differences.

For the cooperation skills construct, here are seven statements in the questionnaire (*Appendix 3*) The total score of statements shows how well the respondent is able to work together and communicate in a team-based on three aspects: group engagement, group communication and teamwork.

The measurement tool for personal initiative is established by Frese et al. (1997). It consists of 11 statements and is based on Principal Component Analysis presented in three factors: purposeful acting (e.g. "Every problem is a challenge for me that I want to solve immediately"); taking initiative (e.g. "If I see something I do not like, I fix it"); and inclusion of others (e.g. "I find easily people who follow my activities and me").

Also, a total of four communication constructs are assessed: social awareness, self-management, relationship management, and responsible decision-making. The communication questionnaire was based on Zhou and Ee (2012) Social-Emotional Competence Questionnaire. The questionnaire consists of two sub-scales: relationship management (for example, "I always apologize for being inadvertently offended) and social awareness (four statements, such as "I understand why people behave exactly as they behave").

The cooperation questionnaire is compiled on the basis of Lower, Newman and Anderson-Butcher's (2015) teamwork questionnaire, which had seven statements (e.g., "I value the contributions of other groupmates").

Before deeper analysis, constructs under the study of this research are evaluated for reliability and validity. Cronbach's Alpha shows the internal consistency of the variables being analyzed. The acceptable range should be at least 0.70, and the higher the coefficient, the better (Coakes et al., 2009). In this research, personal initiative is analyzed as one factor as well as by three factors. The internal reliability variable Cronbach α is 0,84.

The reliability test on communication is done by exploratory factor analysis. Results show that the questionnaire has two subscales: relationship management (factor loadings 0.60-0.84) and social awareness (factor loadings 0,72 –0,91). Confirmative factor analysis model model fit scores are very good (X 2 = 231,12, df = 26, p < 0,01; CFI = 0,95, TLI = 0,93, RMSEA = 0,08).

Results of exploratory factor analysis on cooperation competence show that the questionnaire was one-factor one (factor loadings 0,72– 0,82). Confirmative factor analysis model fit indicators were good (X 2 = 159,92, df = 14, p < 0,01; CFI = 0,96, TLI = 0,94, RMSEA = 0,10).

2.4. Method of Data Analysis

Well-structured administered questionnaires are delivered to the students online. Both descriptive and inferential statistical techniques are used to analyze the data obtained and test the hypotheses formulated through the help of a software program such as Statistical Package for Social Scientists (SPSS Version 20).

A coefficient of correlation analysis is carried out to measure the association between the three constructs. Because the data is ordinal in nature, the Spearman rank-order correlation is used. In addition, it does not assume any linear relationship between variables but simply a monotonic one. The use of both descriptive and inferential analysis tools are adopted to the research for effective analysis. Hypotheses are tested at 0.05 (95% level of confidence) alpha level.

The 9 hypotheses tested here are:

H₁: There is no significant relationship between personal initiative and communication competence pre-course

H₂: There is no significant relationship between personal initiative and cooperation competence pre-course

H₃: There is no significant relationship between communication and cooperation competence pre-course.

H₄: There is no significant relationship between personal initiative and communication competence post-course

H₅: There is no significant relationship between personal initiative and cooperation competence post-course

H₆: There is no significant relationship between communication and cooperation competence post-course

H₇: There is no significant difference between personal initiative pre-course and post-course

H₈: There is no significant difference between communication competence pre-course and post-course

H₉: There is no significant difference between cooperation competence pre-course and post-course.

2.5. Limitation of Methodology

The research methodology is limited to the use of one course to develop the competencies assessed in the students. Future research could introduce more courses to make it a more robust study. The methodology used for this research does not use a control group to further validate the results of the study.

3. DATA PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS

This chapter focused on the presentation of data gathered from the questionnaire conducted. Data gathered are from 824 respondents studying various courses in Estonian Universities. Data size is large to provide more precise estimates of the process parameters.

3.1. Frequency Distribution of Data

Table 3.1. shows how the data were distributed and how they deviate from one another. The results of the descriptive analysis for the demographic data are found in Table 3.1. below:

	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean		Std. Deviation
				Statistic	Std. Error	
Age	824	17.00	57.00	26.0910	0.23655	6.79040
Gender	824	1.00	2.00	1.5061	0.01743	0.50027
Level of education	824	1.00	3.00	2.6080	0.01929	0.55378
Speciality	824	1.00	2.00	1.3908	0.01701	0.48822
Job next to studies	824	1.00	2.00	1.3726	0.01685	0.48378
Male parent self- employed	824	1.00	2.00	1.7961	0.01404	0.40313
Female parent self- employed	824	1.00	2.00	1.5971	0.01710	0.49078
Family members self-employed	824	1.00	2.00	1.6274	0.01685	0.48378
Close friends self- employed	824	1.00	2.00	1.3192	0.01625	0.46644
Entrepreneurship education courses	824	1.00	2.00	1.2488	0.01507	0.43257

Table 3.1 Mean and Standard deviation of demographics of the data sample.

Source: Author's Compilation

The highest mean of the distribution is within 26.09 (age) and 2.61 score (level of education). The highest standard deviation indicates that the ages of respondents are greatly spread in the data. (S=6.7904), with the youngest respondent as 17 years of age, and the oldest, 57. Students of ages 23 and 19 were the highest represented ages across the data sample with frequencies of 10.3% and 10.1%. (Appendix 4)

There is a more even spread of the data for all other parameters measured. Respondents are in different institutions undergoing programs that spread across various disciplines (labeled as Speciality). However, the frequency distribution of students registered for non-business specialty program is about one-third of the sample size. The larger 60.9% are studying business-related programs (*Appendix 5*).

3.2. Inferential Analysis

IBM SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Sciences) version 20 spearman rank-order correlation was used to analyze and compare the significance of the three constructs, i.e, personal initiative (PI), communication competence (COM), and cooperation competence (COP).

3.2.1. Analysis of Spearsons's Coefficient of Correlation for PI, COM, COP Pre-Course

In a bid to test hypotheses 1, 2, and 3, Spearman's rho correlation is used. This analysis depicts the relationship between personal initiative, communication, and cooperation competencies.

			PIprecourse	COMprecourse	COPprecourse
Spearman's rho	PIprecourse	Correlation Coefficient	1.000	.391**	.395**
		Sig. (2- tailed)		0.000	0.000
		N	824	824	824

Table 3.2: Spearman Rho Correlations on PI, COM and COP pre-course

COMprecourse	Correlation Coefficient	.391**	1.000	.611**
	Sig. (2- tailed)	0.000		0.000
	N	824	824	824
COPprecourse	Correlation Coefficient	.395**	.611**	1.000
	Sig. (2- tailed)	0.000	0.000	
** Completion in sine if out of the 0.05 local	Ν	824	824	824

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). Source: author's compilation

According to table 3.2, there is a weak but positive correlation between personal initiative and communication competence as well as personal initiative and cooperation skills (0.39 & 0.395 respectively). On the other hand, communication and cooperation competencies show a strong and positive correlation at 0.611 (61.1%).

The analysis was done at a confidence level of 95% at a two-tailed test, with the P-values computed at 0.000 respectively for all the constructs.

It is the author's opinion that with regards to the result generated from the correlation table above, it can be inferred that the personal initiative of students is mostly not affected by either communication or cooperation competencies. Whereas, correlation and communication are strongly correlated. This means that a student who is highly skilled or competent in communication has a 61% probability of being competent in cooperation skills too and vice-versa.

Decision Criteria

We accept the null hypothesis when the P-value is higher than the alpha value at 0.05. We reject the null hypothesis when P-value is lower than the Alpha value. In this case, P-value is lower (0.00) than the alpha value at 0.05 for all the three constructs. Therefore, we reject null hypothesis H₄ which states that there is no significant difference between personal initiative and communication competence precourse. We also reject the null hypothesis H₅, which states that there is no significant difference between personal initiative and cooperation competences pre-course. Furthermore, we reject hypothesis H₆, which states that there is no significant relationship between communication and cooperation precourse. Hence we accept the alternative hypotheses to H₄, H₅, and H₆.

We are therefore 95% confident that there is a significant relationship between personal initiative, communication skills, and cooperation competencies.

3.2.2. Analysis of Spearman's Rho Coefficient of Correlation for PI, COM, COP Post- Course

This test seeks to test null hypotheses 4, 5 and 6 using Spearman's Coefficient of Correlation. It tells whether there are relationships between personal initiative, communication, and cooperation
competencies after university students participated in an entrepreneurial course. The analysis was done at a confidence level of 95% at a two-tailed test.

			PIpostcourse	COMpostcourse	COPpostcourse
Spearman's rho		Correlation Coefficient	1.000	.507**	.560**
		Sig. (2- tailed)		0.000	0.000
		N	824	824	824
	COMpostcourse	Correlation Coefficient	.507**	1.000	.602**
		Sig. (2- tailed)	0.000		0.000
		N	824	824	824
	COPpostcourse	Correlation Coefficient	.560**	.602**	1.000
		Sig. (2- tailed)	0.000	0.000	
		N	824	824	824

Table 3.3: Spearman Rho Correlations on PI, COM and COP post-course

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). Source: Author's Computation

The above table 3.3. shows a positive and moderate correlation (0.507) between personal initiative and communication competence after the students participated in the course. The same is true of the relationship between personal initiative and cooperation competence, which indicates a correlation coefficient of 0.56 (56%). The relationship between communication skills and cooperation skills is positively moderate after participation in the entrepreneurial course. Indicative of this is the coefficient score of 0.602 (60.2%).

P-values computed at 0.000 respectively for all the constructs at a 95% level of confidence.

In the opinion of the author, results generated from the correlation table above show that the personal initiative of students is moderately affected by both communication or cooperation competencies. Likewise, communication and cooperation are moderately correlated at 0.60. This means that a student who is highly skilled or competent in communication has a 60.2% probability of being competent in cooperation skills too and vice-versa.

Decision Criteria

We accept the null hypothesis when the P-value is higher than the alpha value at 0.05. and we reject the null hypothesis when P-value is lower than the Alpha value. In this case, P-value is lower (0.00) than the alpha value at 0.05 for all the three constructs. Therefore, we reject null hypotheses H₄, which states that there is no significant difference between personal initiative and communication competence post-course. We also reject the null hypothesis H₅, which states that there is no significant difference between personal initiative and cooperation competence post-course. Finally, we reject the null hypothesis H₆, which states that there is no significant difference between communication and cooperation competencies post-course. Hence we accept the alternative to hypotheses H₄, H₅, and H₆.

We are therefore 95% confident that there is a significant relationship between personal initiative, communication, and cooperation competencies after the course.

3.2.3. Analysis for the Differences Between PI, COM and COP Pre- and Post-course Using the Wilcoxon Signed-rank Test

At the end of the semester, a competence post-test is once again administered to see whether there is a change in the students' competence scores after taking the subject. To check for differences, the Wilcoxon signed-rank test is used. This test is a non-parametric distribution test that is designed to evaluate the difference between two repeated and dependent measures. It performs similar functions as does the paired t-test but is more appropriate for ordinal data. The test is done using the SPSS software.

	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Minimum	Maximum
PI precourse	824	41.0907	7.04391	12.08	60.38
COM precourse	824	36.4268	6.79723	12.08	55.42
COP precourse	824	20.4014	4.65040	7.29	30.71
PI postcourse	824	44.9562	7.22607	18.08	60.38
COM postcourse	824	43.2565	6.09805	16.17	55.42
COP postcourse	824	25.0454	3.55956	10.14	30.71

Table 3.4: Wilcoxon signed-rank Test (Mean)

IBM SPSS v.20 Source: Author's Computation

Looking at Table 3, the mean values for the three competencies are higher for the post-test than for the pre-test.

Table 3.5 below also shows that there are 517 cases out of 824 where the post-test score for Personal Initiative (PI) was higher than the pre-course score. There were 15 cases of equal scores. For communication competence (COM) post-course score ranked higher by 607 cases to a pre-course score of 202. From the table, cooperation competence (COP) post-course score was much higher in 620 respondents when compared to the lower pre-course score in 158 respondents and ties of 46.

Decision Criteria

There is a positive difference (i.e an increase) in the values of personal initiative, communication and cooperation competencies of students after participation in an entrepreneurial course.

		N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
PIpostcourse –	Negative Ranks	292 ^a	337.80	98639.00
PIprecourse	Positive Ranks	517 ^b	442.95	229006.00
	Ties	15 ^c		
	Total	824		
COMpostcourse	Negative Ranks	202 ^d	253.05	51116.00
– COMprecourse	Positive Ranks	607 ^e	455.57	276529.00
	Ties	15 ^f		
	Total	824		
COPpostcourse	Negative Ranks	158 ^g	219.06	34611.50
– COPprecourse	Positive Ranks	620 ^h	432.93	268419.50
	Ties	46 ⁱ		
	Total	824		

Table 3.5: Wilcoxon signed-rank Test (Ranks)

- a. PIpostcourse < PIprecourse
- b. PIpostcourse> PIprecourse
- c. PIpostcourse = PIprecourse
- d. COMpostcourse < COMprecourse
- e. COMpostcourse > COMprecourse
- f. COMpostcourse= COMprecourse
- g. COPpostcourse < COPprecourse
- h. COPpostcourse > COPprecourse

i. COPpostcourse= COPprecourse

IBM SPSS v.20 Source: Author's Computation

Test Statistics ^a							
	PIprecourse – PIpostcourse	COMprecourse – COMpostcourse	COPprecourse - COPpostcourse				
Z	-9.804 ^b	-16.952 ^b	-18.645 ^b				
Asymp. Sig. (2- tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000				
a. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test							
b. Based on negative ranks.							

Table 3.6: Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test (Z-Statistics)

SPSS v20 Source: Author's Compilation

From Table 3.6, it is shown that Z-statistics for personal initiative, communication, and cooperation competencies are -9.80, -16.95, and -18.64 respectively. Also, alpha is less than 0.05 for all three competencies (95% Confidence Interval)

Decision Criteria

Hence, we reject the null hypothesis which states that there is no significant difference between personal initiative pre-course and post-course. We, therefore, accept the alternative and conclude that the difference between the personal initiative of students is significantly different after participation in an entrepreneurial course.

Furthermore, we reject the null hypothesis that states that there is no significant difference between communication competence pre and post-course. Hence, we accept the alternative hypothesis, concluding that we are 95% confident that there is a significant difference in the communication competence of students after participation in an entrepreneurial course.

Finally, we reject null hypothesis 9 also, which states that there is no significant difference between cooperation competence pre-course and post-course, and we accept the alternative. It is concluded that

the difference between the cooperation skills of students increases significantly after participation in an entrepreneurial course.

4. SUMMARY, CONCLUSION, AND RECOMMENDATION

This chapter focuses on the research summary of the findings, conclusions as well as recommendations made on the basis of tests conducted. As stated in the introduction, the research paper aims to compare personal initiative, communication, and cooperation competencies, in order to determine if significant relationships exist between personal initiative and communication competence, personal initiative and cooperation competence, personal initiative and cooperation competence, and lastly, between communication and cooperation competencies. This chapter also seeks to test whether there is any significant difference in the competencies after participation in an entrepreneurial course.

4.1. Summary of Findings

The findings revealed that personal initiative, communication, and cooperation competencies are significantly related, both before and after participation in an entrepreneurship course. With the help of Spearman's coefficient of correlation at a confidence level of 95%, all three constructs show positive moderate correlations. The findings show that possession of one of the competencies examined could trigger and encourage the development of the other two competencies. In other words, possession of strong communication skills seems to influence the development of personal initiative and cooperate with others. The same is true of the influence of personal initiative on communication and cooperation competencies has a good chance of being competent in communicating well, and would also possess the ability to take initiative as an entrepreneur. This implies that a lack of any one of the competencies is most likely (95%) an indication of the lack of the other two. Although the correlation of personal initiation, communication, and cooperation competencies is significant, it is rather moderate, than strong.

Furthermore, the research finds a significant difference in the personal initiative, communication, and cooperation competencies of students after participation in an entrepreneurship course. With the help of the Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test (Z-Statistics), it was seen that all three competencies show a significant increase after participating in an entrepreneurship course. The greatest increase is seen in

cooperation competence, which shows 620 cases of higher post-course scores against 158 cases of lower post-course scores. Communication competence has 607 cases of improved scores after participation in the entrepreneurial course against 202 negative cases. The least increase is seen in personal initiative, with a total of 517 positive cases, and 292 negative cases. This result confirms the submission of Volery, Mueller & Von Siemens (2015) that entrepreneurship competencies can be taught and learned. Even though from this study, students exhibit a significant relationship among the three competencies (pre-course), results were greatly improved upon after taking part in the entrepreneurial course.

4.2. Conclusions

The conclusion of the study result is that there is a moderate positive correlation between personal initiative, communication, and cooperation competencies; both before participation in an entrepreneurial course. (Table 3.2) and after participation in a course (Table 3.3). Therefore, while personal initiative can be used, to a large extent, to predict communication and cooperation competencies; communication competence can also be used to predict personal initiative and cooperation skills. Similarly, cooperation competence can be a fairly accurate predictor of communication and personal initiative competencies.

Judging from the results of the Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test, it is commendable how the positively influential entrepreneurship course taken in just one semester can be on the personal initiative, communication, and cooperation skills of students.

4.3. Recommendation

Personal initiative, communication, and cooperation competencies are transferrable skills, which are useful to both would-be entrepreneurs and any kind of profession. Therefore, more efforts should be put into the restructuring of university curricula to inculcate entrepreneurship courses into the curriculum for all programs and at all levels. This research has established that personal initiative, communication, and cooperation competencies are mainly developed through entrepreneurship courses. Therefore, it is highly recommended that a comparative study be done. The study should have a control group which would not be subjected to the entrepreneurial course.

It is also recommended that more entrepreneurial courses be used used in subsequent research work to give a more robust study.

REFERENCES

- Arham, A. F., Boucher, C., & Muenjohn, N. (2013). Leadership and entrepreneurial success: A study of SMEs in Malaysia. World Journal of Social Sciences, 3(5), 117-130. Retrieved from http://researchbank.rmit.edu.au/view/rmit:23720.
- Aldrich, H. E. (1999). *Organizations Evolving*. London: Sage. Retrieved from https://uk.sagepub.com/en-gb/eur/organizations-evolving/book227786.
- Bacigalupo, M., Kampylis, P., Punie, Y., Van den Brande, G. (2016). EntreComp: The Entrepreneurship Competence Framework. Luxembourg: Publication Office of the European Union; EUR 27939 EN; doi:10.2791/593884. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/305991942.
- Baker, T., & Nelson, R. E. (2005). Creating something from nothing: Resource construction through entrepreneurial bricolage. Administrative science quarterly, 50(3), 329-366. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/228316078.
- Bartlett, C. A., and Ghoshal, S. (1997). The myth of the generic manager: New personal competencies for new management roles. California management review, 40(1), 92-116. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/272585567.
- Baron, R.A. & Ensley, M. (2006). Opportunity recognition as the detection of meaningful patterns:
 Evidence from comparisons of novice and experienced entrepreneurs. Management Science, 52: 1331–1344. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/220534920.
- Baron, Robert. (1998). Cognitive mechanisms in entrepreneurship: Why and When Entrepreneurs Think Differently Than Other People. Journal of Business Venturing. 13. 275-294. Retrieved from www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S.
- Baum, J.R., Locke, E.A, and Smith, K.G. (2001). A multidimensional model of venture growth, Academy of Management Journal, vol. 44, n. 2, pp. 292-303. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/228314247.

- Bird, J. (1995). Towards a theory of entrepreneurial competency: Advances in entrepreneurship, firm emergency, and growth. JAI Press, 51-72. Retrieved from www.oalib.com/references/7476575.
- Bikse, V., Riemere, I., & Rivza, B. (2014). The improvement of entrepreneurship education management in Latvia. Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences, 140, 69–76. Retrieve from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.04.388.
- Bryant, T. A. (2004). Entrepreneurship. In G. R. Goethals, G. J. Sorenson, and J. M. Burns (Eds.), Encyclopedia of leadership (pp. 442-448). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. Retrieve from sk.sagepub.com/reference/leadership/n101.xml.
- Burus D. (2013). Creativity and Innovation: Your Keys to a Successful Organisation [Internet]. Available from: huffingtonpost.com/danielburus/creativity-and-innovation_b_4149993.html
- Busenitz, Lowell & Barney, Jay. (1997). Differences Between Entrepreneurs and Managers in Large Organizations: Biases and Heuristics in Strategic Decision-Making. Journal of Business Venturing. 12. 9-30. 10.1016/S0883-9026(96)00003-1. Retrieved from www.sciencedirect.com/.../pii/S0883902696000031.
- Cardon, M.S., Stevens, C., & Potter, D.R. (2010). *Misfortunes or mistakes? Cultural sensemaking of entrepreneurial failure*. Journal of Business Venturing, 26 (1): 79–92. Retrieved from https://studylib.net/doc/12464954/life-after-business-failure--the-process-and-consequences.
- Cassar, Gavin, Entrepreneur Opportunity Costs and Intended Venture Growth. Journal of Business Venturing, Vol. 21, pp. 610-632, 2006 . Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=899132
- Coakes S J, Steed, L and Price J (2009) SPSS Version 15.0 for Windows: Analysis Without Anguish. London: Wiley. Retrieve from www.amazon.com/SPSS-Analysis-without-Sheridan.
- Darling J, Gabrielson M, Seristo H. (2007) Enhancing contemporary entrepreneurship: a focus on management leadership. European Business Review. 2007;19(1):4–22. [30]. From www.researchgate.net/publication/235253694.

- De Jong J, Den Hartog D. How leaders influence employees' innovative behavior. European Journal of Innovation Management; 10(1):41–64. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/235298162.
- David Z. and Edward B. (2011), Personal characteristics and strategic orientation: entrepreneurs in Canadian manufacturing companies, International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour & Research, Vol. 17 No. 1, 2011, pp. 82-103. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/273445314.
- Dayan, M., Zacca, R., & Di Benedetto, A. (2013). An Exploratory Study of Entrepreneurial Creativity: Its Antecedents and Mediators in the Context of UAE Firms. Creativity and Innovation Management, 22(3), 223-240. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/caim.12036. www.researchgate.net/publication/317111535.
- De Jong, G. and van Witteloostuijn, A. (2004), "Successful corporate democracy: sustainable cooperation of capital and labor in the Dutch Breman Group", Academy of Management Perspectives, Vol. 18 No. 3, pp. 54-66. research.vu.nl/en/publications/successful.
- Dimov, D. (2011). Grappling with the unbearable elusiveness of entrepreneurial opportunities.
 Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, 35(1): 57–81.Drucker, P.F. (1985), Innovation and entrepreneurship. Harper & Row, New York. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/338817318.
- Drucker, P. F., (1995). *Innovation and Entrepreneurship*. Newyork: HarperCollins. P.28 Print. From www.researchgate.net/publication/274196087.
- Dunne, T.C., Aaron, J.R., McDowell, W.C., Urban, D.J. and Geho, P.R. (2016), "The impact of leadership on small business innovativeness", Journal of Business Research, Vol. 69 No. 11, pp. 4876-4881. Retrieved from www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S.
- Engelen, A., Gupta, V., Strenger, L. and Brettel, M. (2015), "Entrepreneurial orientation, firm performance, and the moderating role of transformational leadership behaviors", Journal of Management, Vol. 41 No. 4, pp. 1069-1097. Retrieved from www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S.

- European Commission (2006) Entrepreneurship Education in Europe: Fostering Entrepreneurial Mindsets through Education and Learning. European Commission. Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/entrepreneurship/support_measures/training_education/oslo.ht m.
- Frese, M., Fay, D., Hilburger, T., Leng, K., & Tag, A. (1997). The concept of personal initiative: Operationalization, reliability, and validity in two German samples. Journal of Organizational and Occupational Psychology, 70, 139-161. Retrieved from psycnet.apa.org/record/1997-06615-003.
- Frese, M., & Fay, D. (2001). Personal initiative: An active performance concept for work in the 21st century. Research in Organizational Behavior, 23, 133–187. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/255620907.
- Frese, M., Kring, W., Soose, A., & Zempel, J. (1996). Personal Initiative at work: Differences between East and West Germany. The Academy of Management Journal, 39 (1), 37-63. From www.researchgate.net/publication/254786635.
- Frese, M; Fay, D; Hilburger, T; K. Leng (1997) A. The concept of personal initiative: operationalization, reliability, and validity in two German samples. J. Organ. Occup. Psychol., 70, pp. 139-161. Retrieved from www.evidence-based-entrepreneurship.com/content.
- Fillies I. A, Rentschler R. (2010) The role of creativity in entrepreneurship. Journal of Enterprising
Culture.DOI:10.1142/S0218495810000501.www.worldscientific.com/doi/10.1142.DOI:10.1142/S0218495810000501.
- Gartner, W. B. (1988). Who is an entrepreneur? Is the wrong question. American Journal of Small Business, 12 (4), 11-32. journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177.
- GEM/ WHO (2012). Global Environment Monitoring System (GEMS/Food), Data, Consumption (web Document). From www.who.int/nutrition/landscape_analysis/nlis_gem-food/en.
- Glaub, M, Frese, M, Fischer, S, Hoppe, M., (2014) "Increasing personal initiative in small business managers/owners lead to entrepreneurial success: a theory-based controlled randomized field intervention for evidence-based management". Academy Management Learning and Education, 13, pp. 354–379. From journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177.

- Gorman, G., Hanlon, D., King, W. (1997), Some research perspectives on entrepreneurship education, enterprise education, and education for small business management: A ten-year literature review, International Small Business Journal, Vol. 15, pp. 56-77. From journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0266242697153004.
- Harrison, C., Paul, S. and Burnard, K. (2016), "Entrepreneurial leadership: a systematic literature review", International Review of Entrepreneurship, Vol. 14 No. 2, pp. 235-264. From www.researchgate.net/publication/331589807.
- Heller, Cheryl. (2011). A Few Things Every Entrepreneur Should Know About Communication.www.sheepless.org. From http://www.sheepless.org/magazine/features/fewthings-every-entrepreneur-should-know-about-communication.
- Jackson, C. & Wiens, J. (2015). Women Entrepreneurs are Key to Accelerating Growth. Kauffman Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.kauffman.org/what-wedo/resources/entrepreneurshippolicy-digest/women-entrepreneurs-are-key-to-acceleratinggrowth.
- Johnson, D. W., & Johnson, R. T. (1995). Social Interdependence Cooperative Learning in Education. In B. Bunker & J. Z. Rubin (Eds.), Conflict, Cooperation, and Justice (pp. 205-251). San Francisco: Jossey Bass Publishers. From link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-13788.
- Joshi, Paresh. (2014). Role of Communication for Entrepreneurial Success. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/274196087.
- Jong de, J., Wennekers. S. (2008). Intrapreneurship: Conceptualizing entrepreneurial employee behavior. Zoetermeer: scales. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/5012628.
- Karimi Saeid, Biemans Harm J.A, Lans Thomas, Chizari Mohammad, Mulder Martin, (2014)
 "Effects of role models and gender on students' entrepreneurial intentions: ", European Journal of Training and Development, Vol. 38 Iss: 8. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/profile/Harm_Biemans.

- Keyton, J. (2011). Communication and organizational culture: A key to understanding work experience. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. Retrieved from us.sagepub.com/enus/nam/communication-and.
- Kneen, J. (2011). Essential skills: Essential speaking and listening skills. New York, NY: Oxford University Press. From https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/libphilprac/896.
- Ko S, Butler J. E. (2007) Creativity: a key link to entrepreneurial behavior. Business Horizons. 2007;50(5):365–372. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/222759673.
- Kuratko, D.F., Hodgetts, R.M. (2004), Entrepreneurship: Theory, process, practice. OH: South-Western College Publishers, Mason. Retrieved from www.amazon.com/Entrepreneurship-Practice-Donald.
- Kushnir K., Mirmulstein M. L., Ramalho R. (2010) "Counting MSMEs Across the World". IFC and the World Bank. Available at: http://www.ifc.org/msmecountryindicators.
- Kyndt, E. & Baert, H. (2015). Entrepreneurial competencies: Assessment and predictive value for entrepreneurship, Journal of Vocational Behavior, vol. 90, n. 1, pp. 13-25. From link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12186-017-9194-7.
- Le Deist, F. D., and J. Winterton. 2005. What is competence? Human Resource Development International 8 (1): 27–46. Retrieved from journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177.
- Lee S. Y, Florida R, Acs Z. J (2004). Creativity and entrepreneurship: a regional analysis of new firm formation. Regional Studies ;38(8):879–891. Retrieved from www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080.
- Lee, H., Lee, J., Shim, K. and Lee, H. (2016). "Entrepreneurial Characteristics: A Systematic Literature Review", PACIS 2016 Proceedings, http://aisel.aisnet.org/pacis2016/81.
- Leitch, C. and Harrison, R. (2018), "Entrepreneurial leadership: a critical review and research agenda", in Blackburn, R., De Clercq, D. and Heinonen, J. (Eds), The Sage Handbook of Small Business and Entrepreneurship, SAGE Publications, London, pp. 15-35. From www.researchgate.net/publication/314192083.

- Leitch, C.M. and Volery, T. (2017), "Entrepreneurial leadership: insights and directions", International Small Business Journal, Vol. 35 No. 2, pp. 147-156. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/314192083.
- Luca, J., & Tarricone, P. (2001). Does emotional intelligence affect successful teamwork? Proceedings of the 18th Annual Conference of the Australasian Society for Computers in Learning in Tertiary Education at the ASCILITE, p. 367 – 376, Melbourne: University of Melbourne. From ro.ecu.edu.au/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=5833&context.
- Man Lau D.C (2006) Analysing the curriculum development process: three models, Pedagogy, Culture & Society, 9:1, 29-44, Online published ,2006. DOI: 10.1080/14681360100200107. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/232830039.
- Man, T.W.Y, Lau, T. and Chan, K.F (2002). The competitiveness of small and medium enterprises:
 A conceptualization with focus on entrepreneurial competencies, Journal of Business
 Venturing, vol. 17(2), pp. 123-142. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/223806036.
- Martin, B. C., McNally, J. J., & Kay, M. J. (2013). Examining the formation of human capital in entrepreneurship: A meta-analysis of entrepreneurship education outcomes. Journal of Business Venturing, 28(2), 211–224. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/322274046.
- McMullan W. E, Kenworthy T. P.(2015). Creativity and Entrepreneurial Performance: A General Scientific Theory. New York: Springer. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-04726-3. Retrieved from bok.cc/book/2465266/ca0505.
- Meager N, Martin R & Carta E. 2011. Skills for self-employment.UK Commission for Employment and Skills. (Evidence report 31 August.) Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/264082134.
- Mehrabian, A. (2007). Nonverbal Communication. New Brunswick, NJ: Aldine Transaction. Retrieved from www.worldcat.org/title/nonverbal-communication.

- Mitchelmore, S. & Rowley, J. (2010). Entrepreneurial competencies: A literature review and development agenda, International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research, vol. 16, n. 2, pp. 92-111. Retrieved from journal.ipb.ac.id/index.php/ijbe/article/view/15577.
- Moises, K. (2012). Timmons model of the entrepreneurial process. Retrieved June 18, 2018, from https://kimberlymoises.wordpress.com/2012/08/28/timmons-model-of-the-entrepreneurial-process/
- Morris, M. H; Webb, J. W; Fu, J; and Singhal, S (2013). A Competency-Based Perspective on Entrepreneurship Education: Conceptual and Empirical Insights. Journal of Small Business Management 2013 51(3), pp. 352–369. doi: 10.1111/jsbm.1202. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/318814382.
- Motahareh Zarefard, Sung Eui Cho, BERI, (2018). Entrepreneurs Managerial Competencies and Innovative Start-Up Intentions in University Students: Focus On Mediating Factors.
 International Journal of Entrepreneurship (Print ISSN: 1099-9264; Online ISSN: 1939-4675), 22:2. Retrieved from www.abacademies.org/articles/entrepreneurs.
- Mwasalwiba E.S. (2010). Entrepreneurship education: a review of its objectives, teaching methods, and impact indicators. Education + Training 52(1):20-47. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/235316000.
- NetworkHR (2015). Leaders are born, not made. Retrieved from http://www.networkhr.com/issue/for-leaders-are-born-not-made.
- OECD/European Union (2017a), The Missing Entrepreneurs 2017: Policies for Inclusive Entrepreneurship in Europe, OECD Publishing, Paris. Retrieved from www.oecdilibrary.org/the-missing-entrepreneurs.
- Okpara F. O. (2007). The value of creativity and innovation in entrepreneurship. Journal of Asia Entrepreneurship and Sustainability. 3(2):81–131. Retrieved from www.asiaentrepreneurshipjournal.com/AJESIII2Okpara.pdf.

- Peleckis, K.; Peleckienė, V.; Peleckis, K.; Polajeva, T. 2016. Towards sustainable entrepreneurship: role of nonverbal communication in business negotiations, Entrepreneurship and Sustainability Issues 4(2): 228-239. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.9770/jesi.2016.4.2(10).
- Pina Tarricone & Joe Luca (2002). *Successful Teamwork: A Case-Study*. HERDSA 2002. (Page 640). Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/228348698.
- Poerwowidagdo, S. J. (2007). Entrepreneurial Logistic: An Application of Timmons Model in the Mini Business Project do Undergraduate Business Students. Retrieved from http://umkeprints.umk.edu.my/115/1/Paper%201.pdf.
- Raduan C.R, Naresh K. & Lim L.Y. (2006). The Dynamics Of Entrepreneurs' Success Factors In Influencing Venture Growth. Special Issue -Action Learning Journal of Asia Entrepreneurship and Sustainability. Retrieved from www.asiaentrepreneurshipjournal.com/AJESII2Rose.pdf.
- Rauch, A., & Frese, M. (2000). Psychological approaches to entrepreneurial success. A general model and an overview of findings. In C.L. Cooper & I.T. Robertson (Eds.), International Review of Industrial and Organizational Psychology (pp. 101-142). Chichester: Wiley. Retrieved from academicjournals.org/journal/AJBM/article-full.
- Rideout, E. G., & Gray, D. O. (2013). Does entrepreneurship education really work? A review and methodological critique of the empirical literature on the effects of university-based entrepreneurship education. Journal of Small Business Management, 51(3), 329–351. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/264721168.
- Ruskovaara, E., Pihkala, T., Seikkula-Leino, J., & Rytkölä, T. (2014). Building a measurement tool for entrepreneurship education a participatory development approach. Edward Elgar European Research in Entrepreneurship Series. From www.researchgate.net/publication/273131301.
- Schutz P. A. & Pekrun R.(2007). In Educational Psychology, Emotion in Education, Academic Press, pp. 333-348. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/279431733.

- Scarnati, J. T. (2001). On becoming a team player. Team Performance Management: An International Journal, 7(1/2), 5-10. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/312935024.
- Shane S. (2003), A General Theory of Entrepreneurship: The Individual-opportunity Nexus, Edward Elgar: Northampton, MA. Retrieved from www.sciepub.com/reference/96131.
- Stephan, U. and Pathak, S. (2016), "Beyond cultural values? Cultural leadership ideals and entrepreneurship", Journal of Business Venturing, Vol. 31 No. 5, pp. 505-523. Retrieve www.deepdyve.com/lp/elsevier/beyond-cultural.
- Swaroop, K.R. & Prasad, N.G.A. (2013), 'Are leaders born or made?', Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing & Management. Review, 2, 8, 35-40. www.researchgate.net/publication/304540682.
- Timmons, J. A. (1989). The entrepreneurial mind. Louisville, KY: Brick House Publication. Retrieved from www.thefreelibrary.com/Perceptions+of.
- Thorndike, E.L., 1920. A constant error on psychological rating. Journal of Applied Psychology 4, 25–29. Retrieved from web.mit.edu/.../4_J_Applied_Psychology_25_(Thorndike).pdf.
- Tracy Jessica L, Randles Daniel, Steckler Conor M. (2015). The nonverbal communication of emotions, Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences, Volume 3, pp. 25-30. Retrieved from www.semanticscholar.org/paper/The-nonverbal.
- Ulrich, D. Allen, J.-Brockbank, W.-Younger, J.Nyman, M. (2009). HR Transformation. Building Human Resources from the Outside. New York: McGrow-Hill. Retrieved from www.amazon.com/HR-Transformation-Building.
- Valdiserri, G. A., & Wilson, J. L. (2010). The study of leadership in small business organizations: Impact on profitability and organizational success. The Entrepreneurial Executive, 15, 47-71. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/289655806.
- Valerio A., B. Parton, and A. Robb. (2014). Entrepreneurship Education and Training Programs around the World: Dimensions for Success. Washington D.C.: The World Bank. Retrieved from documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/2014/04/19444405.

- Valerij Dermo (2015). Development of Entrepreneurial Competencies. International School for Social and Business Studies, Celje, Slovenia. IJEMS 3(1). Retrieved from emuni.si/wpcontent/uploads/2019/02/3_027-047.pdf.
- Volery, T., Mueller, S. and von Siemens, B. (2015). Entrepreneur ambidexterity: A study of entrepreneur behaviors and competencies in growth-oriented small and medium-sized enterprises, International Small Business Journal, vol. 33, n. 2, pp. 109-129. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/335200982.
- Von Graevenitz, G., Harhoff, D., & Weber, R. (2010). The effects of entrepreneurship education. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 76(1), 90–112. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/322698199.
- Watzlawick, P., & Beavin, J (1967). Some Formal Aspects of Communication. American Behavioral Scientist, 10(8), 4–8. From https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764201000802.
- Wood, M. S., & McKinley, W. (2010). The production of entrepreneurial opportunity: A constructivist perspective. Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal, 4(1): 66–84. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/227663152.
- Yeh, Tzu-Jiun; Chang, Hung-Jung (2018). A multi-case study of entrepreneurial competencies in microenterprises, International Journal of Management, Economics and Social Sciences (IJMESS), ISSN 2304-1366, IJMESS International Publishers, Jersey City, NJ, Vol. 7, Iss. 4, pp. 321-346. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.32327/IJMESS/7.4.2018.20
- Young, G. O., Daley, E., Driver, E., Koplowitz, R, Rymer J. R., and Lo H., (2007). "Why Web2.0 matters (Internet report publication)". Forrester Research Media.
- Zhou, M., & amp; amp; Ee, J. (2012) Development and Validation of the Social-Emotional Competence. Retrieved from www.researchgate.net/publication/261872642.
- Questionnaire (SECQ). The International Journal of Emotional Education, 4, 27–42. Retrieved from core.ac.uk/download/pdf/46603614.pdf.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Questionnaire on Personal Initiative (PI)

- 1. Every problem is a challenge for me that I want to solve immediately.
- 2. If there is a possibility to be actively involved, I use this possibility immediately.
- 3. I take initiative immediately even when others don't.
- 4. I have been usually a powerful force for constructive change.
- 5. Nothing is more exciting than seeing my ideas turn into reality.
- 6. If I see something I do not like, I fix it.
- 7. No matter what the odds, if I believe in something I will make it happen
- 8. If I believe in an idea, no obstacle will prevent me from making it happen
- 9. I take initiative immediately even when others don't.
- 10. I am particularly good at realizing ideas.
- 11. Including and involving others is elementary for me.
- 12. I find easily people who follow my activities and me.
- 13. I am very good at generating new ideas.

Appendix 2. Questionnaire on Communication Skills (COM)

- 1. I can see by looking in the person's face what kind of emotion he has.
- 2. It is easy for me to understand why people feel one way or another.
- 3. I understand why people act the way they do.
- 4. When my partner is upset, I quite well envision the reason.
- 5. I always apologize when I unintentionally insult someone's feelings.
- 6. I always try to console my companions when they are sad.
- 7. In conflict situations, I try not to criticize my partner.
- 8. I am tolerant of my partners' mistakes.
- 9. I stand up for myself without belittling others.
- 10. I stay calm and get over the opposition in new or changed situations.
- 11. I can manage my feelings if something goes wrong.
- 12. When I am annoyed by someone or something, then I calm down before I start discussing the matter.

Appendix 3. Questionnaire on Cooperation Skills (COP)

- 1. I think that cooperation and teamwork are important.
- 2. I know how to give my team members feedback that will not hurt their feelings.
- 3. I ask others for feedback.
- 4. I make an effort to include other members of my group.
- 5. I value the contributions of my team members.
- 6. I treat my team members as equal members of the team.
- 7. I am able to cooperate with different kinds of people.

				Valid	Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Percent
Valid	17.00	2	0.2	0.2	0.2
	18.00	16	1.9	1.9	2.2
	19.00	83	10.1	10.1	12.3
	20.00	61	7.4	7.4	19.7
	21.00	56	6.8	6.8	26.5
	22.00	80	9.7	9.7	36.2
	23.00	85	10.3	10.3	46.5
	24.00	55	6.7	6.7	53.2
	25.00	49	5.9	5.9	59.1
	26.00	38	4.6	4.6	63.7
	27.00	37	4.5	4.5	68.2
	28.00	40	4.9	4.9	73.1
	29.00	18	2.2	2.2	75.2
	30.00	33	4.0	4.0	79.2
	31.00	20	2.4	2.4	81.7
	32.00	19	2.3	2.3	84.0
	33.00	19	2.3	2.3	86.3
	34.00	14	1.7	1.7	88.0
	35.00	17	2.1	2.1	90.0
	36.00	11	1.3	1.3	91.4
	37.00	7	0.8	0.8	92.2
	38.00	8	1.0	1.0	93.2
	39.00	13	1.6	1.6	94.8
	40.00	4	0.5	0.5	95.3
	41.00	3	0.4	0.4	95.6
	42.00	9	1.1	1.1	96.7
	43.00	7	0.8	0.8	97.6
	44.00	1	0.1	0.1	97.7
	45.00	4	0.5	0.5	98.2
	46.00	1	0.1	0.1	98.3
	47.00	4	0.5	0.5	98.8
	48.00	1	0.1	0.1	98.9
	49.00	5	0.6	0.6	99.5
	53.00	1	0.1	0.1	99.6
	54.00	1	0.1	0.1	99.8
	56.00	1	0.1	0.1	99.9
	57.00	1	0.1	0.1	100.0
	Total	824	100.0	100.0	

Appendix 4. Frequency Table (Age)

Specialty					
		Frequency	Percent	Valid	Cumulative
				Percent	Percent
Valid	Business Course	502	60.9	60.9	60.9
	Non Business Course	322	39.1	39.1	100.0
	Total	824	100.0	100.0	

Appendix 5. Frequency Table (Speciality)

Appendix 6. Non-exclusive licence

A non-exclusive licence for reproduction and for granting public access to the graduation thesis¹

I, <u>Oludolapo Adebukola Somoye</u>, <u>01/09/1986</u> (author's name)(date of birth)

1. Give Tallinn University of Technology a permission (non-exclusive licence) to use free of charge my creation:

The Comparative Analysis Between Personal Initiative, Communication and Cooperation Competencies In Estonian University Students Participating In An Entrepreneurship Course,

(title of the graduation thesis)

Supervised by, <u>Sirje Ustav (phD)</u> (name of supervisor)

- 1.1. to reproduce with the purpose of keeping and publishing electronically, including for the purpose of supplementing the digital collection of TalTech library until the copyright expires;
- 1.2. to make available to the public through the web environment of Tallinn University of Technology, including through the digital collection of TalTech library until the copyright expires.
- 2. I am aware that the author will also retain the rights provided in Section 1.
- 3. I confirm that by granting the non-exclusive licence no infringement is committed to the third persons' intellectual property rights or to the rights arising from the personal data protection act and other legislation.

¹ The non-exclusive licence is not valid during the access restriction period with the exception of the right of the university to reproduce the graduation thesis only for the purposes of preservation.